THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE  
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION  
APPELLATE PANEL  
Commissioner McCaskill, Chair

---

**Appellate Case No. 2013-002416**

---

John Stevenson, Employee,

Respondent,

v.

Marathon Abrasive, Inc., Employer, and  
Praetorian Insurance Company,

Appellants.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

RECEIVED

MAY 07 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Mark D. Cauthen  
David M. Bornemann  
McKay, Cauthen, Settana & Stublely, PA  
1303 Blanding Street  
Post Office Box 7212  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-7217  
(803) 256-4645  
Attorneys for Appellants

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. The Appellate Panel of the full Commission erred as a matter of law in finding that Claimant provided sufficient notice under §42-15-20 by notifying the Defense Counsel representing the Employer on a separate workers compensation claim, such error being that Defense Counsel did not have authority and was not retained to receive notice of new claims on behalf of Employer. (Finding of Fact No. 3; Conclusion of Law No. 6)
2. The Appellate Panel of the full Commission erred as a matter of law in finding that Defense counsel was an agent of the employer for purposes of notice under §42-15-20, such error being that Defense Counsel's scope of representation of Employer did not extend beyond the confines of the prior claim and accepting notice of new claims would violate the scope of representation and Rules of Professional Conduct. (Finding of Fact No. 3; Conclusion of Law No. 6)
3. The Appellate Panel of the full Commission erred in finding as an issue of fact, and/or concluding as a matter of law that the Claimant sustained an injury by accident due to repetitive trauma, the error being that such findings and/or conclusions were unsupported by the evidence and clearly erroneous in light of the relevant and probative evidence in the record. (Finding of Fact No's. 1, 2; Conclusion of Law No's. 4, 5)
4. The Appellate Panel of the full Commission erred in finding as an issue of fact, and/or concluding as a matter of law that, if the Claimant failed to provide proper notice under §42-15-20, such failure was excused by the reasonable excuse provision; the error being that the issue of reasonable excuse was not preserved for Appellate Review. (Finding of Fact No. 4; Conclusion of Law No. 6)
5. The Appellate Panel of the full Commission erred in finding as an issue of fact, and/or concluding as a matter of law that, if the Claimant failed to provide proper notice under §42-15-20, such failure was excused by the reasonable excuse provision; the error being that this finding was improper and Appellants were not provided adequate opportunity to respond with evidence of prejudice which ensued from the untimely notice where the issue of reasonable excuse was not before the Appellate Panel. (Finding of Fact No. 4; Conclusion of Law No. 6)
6. The Appellate Panel of the full Commission erred in finding as an issue of fact, and/or concluding as a matter of law that, if the Claimant failed to provide proper notice under §42-15-20, such failure was excused by the reasonable excuse provision; the error being that the Commission's finding of lack of prejudice was conclusory with no evidentiary support and that the Employer was prejudiced by Claimant's failure to timely report an alleged injury. (Finding of Fact No. 4; Conclusion of Law No. 6)

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Claimant allegedly sustained an injury to the left shoulder on May 22, 2012. Claimant continued working the same job regular duty from this date until being laid off for lack of work on January 4, 2013. Claimant filed a Form 50 establishing a claim and requesting a Hearing on September 17, 2012. (R. p. 23). The Appellants' responded with a Form 51 denying the claim and preserving the notice defense within the specified period. (R. p. 24). Claimant filed a second Form 50 on December 13, 2012 which resulted in the Hearing currently at issue. (R. p. 25).

The Claimant alleged that he sustained a repetitive trauma injury to the left shoulder from working the chain pull on a grain hopper on May 22, 2012 and that he satisfied the notice requirement by virtue of a letter to the attorney defending his January 2012 claim. The Appellants alleged that after many years working the chain pull, Claimant was moved to a different job over a year before the alleged accident date (March 14, 2011, *see* (R. p. 67, lines 15-25)). The Appellants asserted that Claimant's job prior to the alleged injury reduced the need to work the hopper from over 40 times per day to 2-3 when he helped fill in while other employees were at lunch. (R. p. 70, lines 7-9). The Appellants maintained that Claimant's job was no longer repetitive for a significant period prior to the alleged injury and Claimant's medical questionnaire only supported a finding of repetitive trauma through a winding motion of the hopper, which had not been a repetitive part of his duties for over a year. (R. p. 36, lines 7-16).

Appellants additionally asserted that Claimant's attorney's letter to Defense counsel on his prior claim does not satisfy §42-15-20 for various reasons, including the fact that Defense counsel was not retained for any subsequent claims until well after the 90-day requirement and

that an alternative finding would pose significant ethical issues and conflicts of interest. (R. pp. 36, line 16-p. 37, line 24).

Commissioner Wilkerson issued an Order on April 19, 2013 finding that the Claimant did sustain a repetitive trauma injury to the left shoulder and finding that notice via letter to the Defense counsel on his prior claim was sufficient to satisfy the statute.

Of note, Commissioner Wilkerson found that Claimant satisfied the notice requirement solely by means of the letter to the defense counsel on his January 2012 claim. (R. pp. 1-12). The single Commissioner recognized the conflicting evidence regarding notice between the Employer and Claimant and chose to make no findings indicating that Claimant provided proper notice to his employer. (R. pp. 1-12, 104-106). The issue of notice to the Employer, itself, has not been appealed by either party and is not preserved for review. (R. pp. 27-28, 146). The issues on appeal are limited to those filed by the Appellants as to whether Defense counsel qualifies as an agent, whether notice to a defense counsel satisfies the notice statute, and whether the Commissioner erred in finding the Claimant's alleged injury constituted a repetitive trauma injury.

Within the specified time, the Appellants counsel submitted a Form 30 Request for Commission Review. The issues for determination as set out by the Appellants were:

1. Did the Single Commissioner err in finding that Claimant provided sufficient notice by notifying the Defense counsel representing the Employer on a separate workers compensation claim?
2. Did the Single Commissioner err in finding that Defense counsel was an agent of the employer for purposes of notice?
3. Did the Single Commissioner err in finding the Claimant sustained an injury by accident due to repetitive trauma, when the evidence shows Claimant's job duties were not repetitive and Claimant spent little time working the position that his medical expert asserts was the cause of the injury?

(R. p. 146). The Full Commission held that Claimant's Attorney's communication to the attorney defending his prior claim, rather than his employer, was sufficient notice. (R. pp. 13-22). Commissioner James dissented on the issue of whether notice could be provided to an attorney relating to a matter for which they have not been retained. (R. p. 22). The Full Commission further held that, if Claimant did not provide proper notice, then he made a reasonable excuse and the Appellants were not prejudiced. (R. pp. 13-22). The Appellants maintain that the issue of "reasonable excuse" was not preserved for review by the Claimant and not properly before the Full Commission. Finally, the Full Commission upheld the Single Commissioner's finding that Claimant's injury constituted a compensable repetitive trauma. (R. pp. 13-22).

This appeal to the Court of Appeals followed.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The Administrative Procedures Act (APA) provides the standard for judicial review of decisions by the [Appellate Panel]." Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc., 386 S.C. 534, 540, 689 S.E.2d 615, 618 (2010); *accord* Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 133-34, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). Under the APA, this court can reverse or modify a decision of the Appellate Panel if the substantial rights of the appellant "have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record." Transp. Ins. Co. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund, 389 S.C. 422, 427, 699 S.E.2d 687, 689-90 (2010); S.C.Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(d), (e) (Supp.2012).

The Administrative Procedures Act, relied upon by Appellants, was originally enacted in 1977. It purports to provide uniform procedures before State Boards and Commissions and for judicial review after the exhaustion of administrative remedies. Section 1-23-380(g) concerns the

scope of judicial review and provides:

(g) The court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on the questions of fact. The court may affirm the decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. The court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are:

- (1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (2) In excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (3) Made upon unlawful procedure;
- (4) Affected by other error of law;
- (5) Clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 132-33, 276 S.E.2d 304, 305 (1981).

Generally, an injured employee must give his employer notice of the accident upon “the occurrence of an accident, or as soon thereafter as practicable,” but he must do so within ninety days after the accident. S.C.Code Ann. § 42-15-20 (Supp.2012).” Etheredge v. Monsanto Co., 349 S.C. 451, 458, 562 S.E.2d 679, 683 (Ct.App.2002), citing Mintz v. Fiske-Carter Constr. Co., 218 S.C. 409, 414, 63 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1951).

The Etheredge court recognized the basic information a claimant must convey in giving such notice: “For adequate notice, there must be “some knowledge of accompanying facts connecting the injury or illness with the employment, and indicating to a reasonably

**conscientious manager** that the case might involve a potential compensation claim.” Larson's Workers' Compensation Law § 126.03[1][b] (2001) (emphasis added) (footnotes omitted). “Generally, in order that the knowledge be imputed to the employer, the person receiving it must be in some supervisory or representative capacity, such as foreman, supervisor ... physician, or nurse.” Id. at § 126.03[2][a] (footnotes omitted). Id. at 457, 562 S.E.2d at 682.” Hartzell v. Palmetto Collision, LLC, 406 S.C. 233, 750 S.E.2d 97, 104-05 (Ct. App. 2013), reh'g denied (Nov. 14, 2013).

The notice requirement protects the employer by enabling him to “investigate the facts and question witnesses while their memories are unfaded, and ... to furnish medical care [to] the employee in order to minimize the disability and consequent liability upon the employer.” Mintz, 218 S.C. at 414, 63 S.E.2d at 52. “The claimant bears the burden of proving compliance with these notice requirements.” Lizee v. S.C. Dep't of Mental Health, 367 S.C. 122, 127, 623 S.E.2d 860, 863 (Ct.App.2005).

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED IN FINDING THAT CLAIMANT PROVIDED SUFFICIENT NOTICE BY NOTIFYING THE DEFENSE COUNSEL REPRESENTING THE EMPLOYER ON A SEPARATE WORKERS COMPENSATION CLAIM

#### A. NOTICE

The overarching issue in this claim is whether the Claimant provided proper notice to the Employer within 90 days of his alleged injury. The single Commissioner found that Claimant's Attorney's letter to Defense counsel for Claimant's prior claim was sufficient to put the employer on notice of the injury, holding that the Defense counsel qualified as an agent for the Employer. (R. pp. 9-10, 102). The Appellants disagree that any relationship existed that would allow Defense Counsel to act on behalf of the Employer on any matters other than those for

which he had been specifically retained.

Section 42-15-20 provides that:

- (A) Every injured employee or his representative immediately shall on the occurrence of an accident, or as soon thereafter as practicable, give or cause to be given to the employer a notice of the accident and the employee shall not be entitled to physician's fees nor to any compensation which may have accrued under the terms of this title prior to the giving of such notice, unless it can be shown that the employer, his agent, or representative, had knowledge of the accident or that the party required to give such notice had been prevented from doing so by reason of physical or mental incapacity or the fraud or deceit of some third person.
- (B) Except as provided in subsection (C), no compensation shall be payable unless such notice is given within ninety days after the occurrence of the accident or death, unless reasonable excuse is made to the satisfaction of the commission for not giving timely notice, and the commission is satisfied that the employer has not been prejudiced thereby.
- (C) In the case of repetitive trauma, notice must be given by the employee within ninety days of the date the employee discovered, or could have discovered by exercising reasonable diligence, that his condition is compensable, unless reasonable excuse is made to the satisfaction of the commission for not giving timely notice, and the commission is satisfied that the employer has not been unduly prejudiced thereby.

As of the correspondence dated June 19, 2012, (which was the only notice within 90 days for the new injury), Appellants counsel, undersigned, was: (a) previously unaware of the alleged second injury to the left shoulder; (b) had not yet been retained by the carrier to represent its interests for the subsequent date of injury; and (c) was unaware if the Carrier, Praetorian Insurance Company, was even the carrier for the Defendant Employer on the second alleged date of accident.

The rights of parties in association with a claim for benefits under worker's compensation arise on the date of accident. (*See generally Sellers v. Daniel Construction Co.*, 285 S.C. 484, 330 S.E.2d 305 (1985)). Attorney Cauthen was not the authorized agent of the Employer or the Insurance Carrier for any subsequent claims made by Claimant either on the date of accident or

for a period of ninety days afterward.

Attorney Cauthen was representing the Employer and Carrier regarding Claimant's admitted prior claim. Therefore, the question becomes whether notice to an attorney involved in one claim is sufficient to satisfy the notice requirements of an entirely separate claim.

#### B. WHAT IS THE MEANING OF "AGENT" UNDER §42-15-20

It is well settled in South Carolina case law that an employee can satisfy notice requirements by reporting an injury to their supervisor, a foreman, a company nurse, and other actual employees of a company that act in some capacity as a manager or with workers' compensation claims processing. See for example Buggs v. U.S. Rubber, 201 SC 281, 22 SE2d 881 (1942); Etheredge v. Monsanto Co., 349 SC 451, 562 SE2d 679 (Ct. App. 2002).

While the Act and case law do not specify in great detail a specific method of giving notice, it favors a method where the **employer** is "actually put on notice of the injury so he can investigate it immediately after its occurrence and can furnish medical care for the employee in order to minimize the disability and his own liability." Hanks v. Blair Mills, Inc., 286 SC 378, 335 SE2d 91 (Ct. App. 1985).

Allowing an Employee or their representative to provide notice by way of an entity that represents or has represented their Employer in another matter is not an effective method of providing notice, it can create undue delay, and creates additional points of potential communication breakdown; all of which prejudice the Employer's interest in pursuing an expedient investigation and medical treatment to minimize his own liability.

The Etheredge court recognized the logic that notice should be provided directly to an employer or someone with a logical role to address new claims of injury: "For adequate notice,

there must be “some knowledge of accompanying facts connecting the injury or illness with the employment, and indicating **to a reasonably conscientious manager** that the case might involve a potential compensation claim.” Larson's Workers' Compensation Law § 126.03[1][b] (2001) (emphasis added) (footnotes omitted). “Generally, in order that the knowledge be imputed to the employer, the person receiving it must be in some supervisory or representative capacity, such as foreman, supervisor ... physician, or nurse.” Id. at § 126.03[2][a] (footnotes omitted). Id. at 457, 562 S.E.2d at 682.” Etheredge v. Monsanto Co., 349 S.C. 451, 458, 562 S.E.2d 679, 683 (Ct. App. 2002); see also Hartzell v. Palmetto Collision, LLC, 406 S.C. 233, 750 S.E.2d 97, 104-05 (Ct. App. 2013), reh'g denied (Nov. 14, 2013). The Court lists company doctors or nurses as potential agents/representatives due to their inherent nature as medical professionals assessing employees. The Court’s interpretation does not support a legislative intent to place an independent attorney who happens to represent a business on one separate claim in the position to act as an agent or representative for notice of new claims.

Another recent case strengthened the premise that an employee must report their injury to a supervisor, or someone else in a supervisory capacity of their department. In Lizee v. SC Dept. of Mental Health, Claimant “failed to provide proper notice of her injury to her state employer, although she notified a health counselor for the Department; **[Claimant] did not notify her supervisor**, and counselor did not serve in any supervisory capacity over nurse but rather usually worked at another mental health facility and was working with nurse on a temporary or “fill-in” basis on the day of the accident.”[emphasis added] Lizee, 367 S.C. 122, 623 S.E.2d 860 (Ct. App. 2005).

While no case law specifically addresses the issue of notice to an unretained attorney, the Commission has granted some clarification through its power to establish regulations. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-301 [Posting Notice] states as follows:

“B. The notice shall state, substantially, the following:

We are operating under and subject to the Workers' Compensation Act of South Carolina. In case of accidental injury or death to an employee, the injured employee, or someone acting on his or her behalf, **shall give immediate notice to the employer or general authorized agent**. Failure to give immediate notice may be the cause of serious delay in the payment of compensation to the injured employee or his or her beneficiaries and may result in failure to receive any compensation benefits whatsoever.”

At no point in time did the Employer authorize its attorney on Claimant's prior workers' compensation claim to serve as a **general or authorized** agent of the Employer. Furthermore, at no point in time did the Employer authorize its attorney on Claimant's prior workers' compensation claim to serve as an authorized representative of the Company for purposes of receiving notice on workers' compensation claims. It would not make sense for any company to authorize such a person to act as a representative for notice purposes because 1) a company could change insurance carriers before a subsequent injury, 2) a carrier could choose to send a subsequent claim to different attorney, and/or 3) it would delay the company's ability to quickly respond to an alleged accident.

The single Commissioner reasoned, since Defense counsel was representing the Employer on a prior claim at the time of the letter and since Defense counsel now represents the Employer on the current claim, that there is a “presumption” that Defense counsel was the agent or representative of Employer for notice purposes in June 2012. (R. pp. 9-10). The problem with this logic is: the fact Defense counsel currently represents Employer on this claim is irrelevant. Defense counsel only represented the Employer with regard to the prior claim and had no

authority to handle matters outside of the January 2012 claim. Defense counsel was not retained on the May 2012 claim until October 1, 2012. Defense counsel had no authority, express or implied, to act on behalf of the Appellants for over three months after receiving the letter purporting to provide notice. If the fact Defense counsel eventually was retained on the new claim was relevant to a notice defense, the Employer could have easily selected another firm to represent them when they were eventually put on notice by receipt of a Form 50 in September 2012.

C. IT WOULD NOT BE REASONABLE TO CHARACTERIZE AN ATTORNEY AS AN AGENT FOR A CLAIM WHERE HE HAS NOT BEEN RETAINED BY AN EMPLOYER OR CARRIER

a) *Doing so would create an agency relationship without the attorney actually being retained by the Carrier or Employer for the claim*

Agency is the fiduciary relationship that results when two persons agree that one (the agent) will act on behalf of and under the control of the other (the principal). Accordingly, the three essential elements of agency are: 1) consent, 2) control and, 3) “on behalf of” – exclusivity in the subject matter of the relationship. See Restatement (Third) of Agency §1.01 (2006); see also South Carolina Bar Review Course: Agency and Partnership, Martin C. McWilliams, Jr. (2006). Beyond this, agents are classified in two categories, general or special agents. General agents are agents who have a continuity of service and do not have a requirement to seek new authority to act on behalf of the principal on each new matter. A special agent is authorized to conduct a single transaction or task but does not involve an implied continuity of service. **Special agents normally cannot bind the principal outside the scope of actual or apparent authority, and third parties are generally under a duty to ascertain the extent of the agent’s**

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