THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
APPELLATE PANEL
Commissioner McCaskill, Chair

Appellate Case No. 2013-002416

John Stevenson, Employee,

Respondent,

v.

Marathon Abrasive, Inc., Employer, and
Praetorian Insurance Company,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Andrew W. Creech
Garrett B. Johnson
Elrod Pope Law Firm
P.O. Drawer 11091
Rock Hill, SC 29731
(803) 324-7574
Attorneys for Respondent

Mark D. Cauthen
David M. Bornemann
McKay, Cauthen, Settana &
Stubley, PA
PO Box 7217
Columbia, SC 29202-7217
(803) 256-4645
Attorneys for Appellant

RECEIVED

MAY 08 2014

SC COURT OF APPEALS

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE FULL COMMISSION'S DECISION THAT CLAIMANT COMPLIED WITH § 42-15-20 IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

The Full Commission ruled that Claimant complied with the notice requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-20 (2012), "Notice to employer of accident or repetitive trauma." That statute provides that:

(A) Every injured employee or his Representative immediately shall on the occurrence of an accident, or as soon thereafter as practicable, give or cause to be given to the employer a notice of the accident and the employee shall not be entitled to physician's fees nor to any compensation which may have accrued under the terms of this title prior to the giving of such notice, unless it can be shown that employer, his agent or representative had knowledge of the accident or that the third party required to give such notice had been prevented from doing so by reason of physical or mental incapacity or the fraud or deceit of some third person.

Section 42-15-20(C) adds that, in the case of injuries involving repetitive trauma, such notice must be given within 90 days "of the date the employee discovered, or could have discovered by exercising reasonable diligence, that his condition is compensable." Claimant fulfilled his responsibilities under this statute because his representative provided notice of Claimant's left shoulder injury to Employer's representative within the mandated 90-day period.

Neither party disputes that Attorney Cauthen was representing Employer—albeit on another Workers' Compensation claim involving Claimant—as of June 19, 2012, when Claimant's attorney sent Attorney Cauthen a letter advising him of Claimant's left shoulder injury. Appellants freely admit as much in their brief, using the phrase "representing the Employer" numerous times. (App. Brief, pp. 7, 10, 13, 14, 15.) No

case law exists defining “representative,” thus its plain and ordinary meaning must be used in interpreting the statute. See Durham v. United Cos. Fin. Corp., 331 S.C. 600, 604, 503 S.E.2d 465, 468 (1998). That meaning is, quite simply, “a person who represents others.” Appellants have already conceded in their brief that Attorney Cauthen was representing Employer at the time notice was provided, thus the requirements of the statute have been met.

Appellants claim that the Commission erred in this finding, basing their contentions primarily on the argument that Attorney Cauthen was not an agent of Employer on June 19, 2012. Indeed, after briefly discussing the statute, Appellants spend an entire 11 pages pondering, “What is the meaning of ‘agent’ under § 42-15-20” and then arguing that “It would not be reasonable to characterize an attorney as an agent for a claim where he has not been retained.” (App. Brief, pp. 8, 11). Appellants’ argument fails because they improperly conflate the terms “representative” and “agent.” In writing the statute, the Legislature did not require that “an agent only,” or “a representative serving as an agent,” or “an agent and representative” have knowledge of the claimant’s injury. Instead, they wrote that “an agent or representative” must have knowledge of the injury. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-20(A) (2012)(emphasis added). This Court must construe the statute to give effect to all its terms. See Breeden v. TCW, Inc./Tenn. Express, 355 S.C. 112, 120, 584 S.E.2d 379, 383 (2003); quoting Nexsen v. Ward, 96 S.C. 313, 80 S.E. 599 (1914)(“We must construe a statute to give effect to all of its provisions. Every word, clause, and sentence must be given some meaning, force, and effect, if it can be done by any reasonable construction.”) The use of the word “or” in § 42-15-20 creates a clear distinction between the terms “representative” and “agent,” one

which Appellants almost wholly overlook and which renders the discussion of the meaning of “agent” irrelevant.

Neither does the statute utilize phrases like “authorized representative of the Company for purposes of receiving notice on workers’ compensation claims” such as Appellants use in their brief. (App. Brief, p. 10). While such an interpretation of the term would be helpful to Appellants, it hardly aligns with the plain language of the statute. Again, had the Legislature intended such a reading, they easily could have added the language Appellants suggest to the statute. They did not, and so the Full Commission acted appropriately in finding that “there is a presumption that the McKay Firm was and is the agent and/or representative of Marathon Abrasive when the notification letter of June 19, 2012 was sent, satisfying the notice requirement set forth in 42-15-20.” The Commission’s Order is supported by substantial evidence and the plain meaning of the statute, and should be upheld by this Court.

II. THE FULL COMMISSION ACTED APPROPRIATELY IN CONSIDERING WHETHER CLAIMANT HAD REASONABLE EXCUSE TO BELIEVE NOTICE WAS PROPERLY GIVEN AND IN FINDING THAT REASONABLE EXCUSE EXISTED.

Sections 42-15-20(B) and (C) allow claimants to recover Workers’ Compensation benefits even if proper notice has not been provided to the employer, so long as “reasonable excuse is made to the satisfaction of the commission for not giving timely notice, and the commission is satisfied that the employer has not been unduly prejudiced thereby.” The term “reasonable excuse” is not further defined by case law, so again the plain and ordinary language of the statute must be applied. See Durham, 331 S.C. 600, 503 S.E.2d 465 (1998). These notice requirements are to be liberally construed in favor of the claimant. Etheredge v. Monsanto Co., 349 S.C. 451, 458, 562 S.E.2d 679, 683

(Ct.App.2002). In their Order of October 8, 2013, the Full Commission found that, even if Claimant did not comply with the notice requirements of § 42-15-20, he had reasonable excuse for the notice to be given beyond 90 days.

Appellants claim that the Full Commission erred not only in finding that reasonable excuse existed, but in considering the matter at all, as “Claimant did not preserve the issue through an appeal of the single Commissioner’s order.” (Appellants’ Brief at p. 21). This is a curious contention, given that Claimant received a fully favorable decision from the single Commissioner. That decision found that “Under § 42-15-20, Claimant provided proper notice to the employer, his agent, or his representative within the required 90-day time period.” The statutory language, which provides that notice must be provided unless reasonable excuse exists, makes its quite clear that reasonable excuse is a alternative position, a point for the claimant to argue only if he fails in showing proper notice. It is inconceivable that Claimant would have or should have appealed a favorable finding on the primary issue so as to argue that he should win on the alternative clause instead.

Moreover, notice and reasonable excuse are part-and-parcel with one another. They appear in the same sentence of the same subsection of the same statute, separated by not so much as a period. Even a cursory examination of the statute should have revealed to Appellants that reasonable excuse is an integral part of determining whether Claimant is able to recover benefits under § 42-15-20. Any lack of preparation in arguing this point to the Commission was due to an equal lack of diligence. Commissioner Wilkerson’s order found that Claimant had complied with § 42-15-20; the Full Commission’s findings regarding reasonable excuse were predicated on that exact same

statute. It was thus appropriate for the Full Commission to consider reasonable excuse in issuing their order.

Appellants further argue that the Full Commission lacked substantial evidence to find that the letter sent by Claimant's counsel to Attorney Cauthen constituted reasonable excuse for not reporting his injury to a supervisor. In so doing, Appellants compare the instant case with that of Hartzell v. Palmetto Collision, LLC, 406 S.C. 233, 750 S.E.2d 97 (Ct.App.2013). In Hartzell, the claimant allegedly suffered an on-the-job injury to his back, which he claimed to have reported to his supervisor by saying, "I was pretty sore, I must have hurt myself." Id. at 237, 750 S.E.2d at 99. The Court of Appeals found that this statement did not satisfy § 42-15-20, ostensibly because "the record does not contain substantial evidence that Claimant notified Employer of any facts connecting [his] injury . . . with [his] employment." Id. at 104 (internal quotation marks omitted). Of course, the issue of whether Claimant provided Employer with facts establishing a causal connection between his injury and his job is not before the Court today. Setting aside that difference, there is an even more obvious distinction between the two cases, indeed the one that was central to the Full Commission's order: the letter sent by Claimant's counsel to Attorney Cauthen.

In their discussion of reasonable excuse, Appellants summarily dismiss this letter, stating that "The reasons why this action is not sufficient are outlined above." (App. Brief, p. 22). The rest of this section deals solely with Claimant's actions, in particular his conversation with his supervisor concerning the injury and his alleged knowledge of the Workers' Compensation system. These reasons why the letter should not avail him, presumably, are those discussed earlier, that it fails to meet the notice requirements of §

42-15-20. What Appellants fail either to recognize or acknowledge is that notice and reasonable excuse are two different inquiries, clearly divorced by the language of the statute. To adopt Appellants' line of argument would be to render the "reasonable excuse" clause of § 42-15-20 wholly ineffective: "If an action does not provide proper notice, it cannot serve as reasonable excuse; an action can only be considered reasonable excuse if it complies with the notice requirements." Such a reading would be contrary to all rules and principles of statutory construction in South Carolina. See Breeden at 120, 584 S.E.2d at 383("Every word, clause, and sentence must be given some meaning, force, and effect, if it can be done by any reasonable construction.")

Given the facts and circumstances of this case, Claimant had reasonable excuse to believe that his counsel's letter to Attorney Cauthen satisfied the notice requirements of § 42-15-20. Claimant's actions, cited by Appellants in their brief, only serve to confirm that he believed that notice had been provided: despite ample opportunities, he reported his left shoulder injury only to Tim Kennedy. Why? Because he believed that the notice provided by his attorney would suffice. While Appellants go on to cite a great deal of case law explaining the exact purpose and requirements of said notice, it is not reasonable to expect Claimant to know or understand all of these holdings. What is reasonable is for Claimant to believe that his counsel's letter—which was sent to the same attorney who was already representing the same employer on the same type of on-the-job injury Claimant had suffered a few months prior—would fulfill his obligations under the statute. Claimant thus had reasonable excuse for not providing additional notice of his injury to Employer. The Full Commission's decision and order on this point is supported by substantial evidence and must be upheld.

The final element of § 42-15-20 is that the delay in receiving notice did not “unduly prejudice” the employer. The burden of showing any such prejudice lies with Employer. See Lizee v. S.C. Dep't of Mental Health, 367 S.C. 122, 129, 623 S.E.2d 860, 864 (Ct.App.2005). In this case, there is no prejudice because there was no, or minimal, delay. Employer’s representative had notice of the injury as of June 12, 2012, within 30 days of its discovery. If he chose not to pass on this knowledge to Employer, the fault lies with him, not Claimant. Additionally, when Claimant did see Dr. Ashe and received a light duty note, which he gave to his supervisor, he was not given light duty work, nor were his day-to-day tasks altered or lessened in any way. There is no reason to believe, as Appellants contend in their brief, that Employer would “plac[e] Claimant in a light duty job” or “monitor his activity to avoid further injury” had they received notice sooner. Employer’s own actions belie the argument. (App. Brief, p. 27). Once again, therefore, the Full Commission’s order should be upheld as it was based on substantial evidence.

III. THE FULL COMMISSION’S FINDING THAT CLAIMANT SUFFERED AN INJURY BY ACCIDENT DUE TO REPETITIVE TRAUMA IS BASED ON A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE.

Appellants’ final argument is that the Full Commission incorrectly found that Claimant suffered a compensable repetitive-trauma injury per § 42-1-172. That section defines a “repetitive trauma injury” as one that “is gradual in onset and caused by the cumulative effects of repetitive traumatic events.” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-172(A) (2012). A repetitive trauma injury may only be shown “if it is established by medical evidence that there is a direct causal relationship between the condition under which the work is performed and the injury.” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-172(D) (2012). With this

section, as with other aspects of the Workers' Compensation laws, the Courts should take a liberal approach in favor of coverage. See Schurlknight v. City of N. Charleston, 352 S.C. 175, 178, 574 S.E.2d 194, 195 (2002).

Claimant met his burden on showing a repetitive trauma both through his own testimony and that of his treating physician, Dr. Malik Ashe. In response to a medical questionnaire, Dr. Ashe opined, in relevant part, that Claimant injured or aggravated his left shoulder by winding the hopper full of grain, that this winding constituted repetitive trauma, and that this repetitive trauma contributed to Claimant's left shoulder pain. The Full Commission found that this evidence was sufficient to show that Claimant suffered a repetitive trauma injury. Appellants object, primarily on the grounds that Claimant had changed jobs a year prior to discovering his injury and this new job was "if anything... more varied and less repetitive." (App. Brief at p. 30).

While that may be true, "less repetitive" is not the same as "not repetitive." Claimant testified that even after changing jobs, he was still required to rotate positions, and performed the hopper job an hour a day. Claimant's supervisor agreed that Claimant would have to rotate jobs and fill in for co-workers who missed work. Dr. Ashe understood the extent and nature of Claimant's duties, and accounted for them in his opinion regarding causation. Appellants have offered no medical evidence of their own to refute his opinion. The record thus clearly shows that the Full Commission's finding that Claimant suffered a repetitive trauma injury is supported by a preponderance of the evidence.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Respondents respectfully request that the Court of Appeals AFFIRM the Full Commission's order on all points. Claimant complied with the notice requirements of § 42-15-20, had reasonable excuse to believe that they had been satisfied, and any delay in notice did not prejudice Employer. Claimant likewise showed by a preponderance of the evidence, including appropriate medical testimony, that he suffered a compensable injury by repetitive trauma resulting from his on-the-job duties.